Cadmium in Arable Crops

The influence of soil factors and liming

Gunilla Jansson Department of Soil Sciences Uppsala

Doctoral thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Uppsala 2002

Acta Universitatis Agriculturae Sueciae Agraria 341

ISSN 1401-6249 ISBN 91-576-6192-8 © 2002 Gunilla Jansson, Uppsala Tryck: SLU Service/Repro, Uppsala 2002

Abstract

Jansson, G. 2002. *Cadmium in arable crops. The influence of soil factors and liming.* Doctoral dissertation. ISSN 1401-6249, ISBN 91-576-6192-8.

The aims of this thesis were to investigate (i) the influence of soil factors on Cd concentration in carrots, (ii) the effects of lime on Cd solubility in soils and on Cd concentrations in crops, (iii) the correlation between Cd concentrations in crops in liming experiments and soil factors, i.e. Cd species in soil solution and soil extracts.

Common arable crops, carrots and associated soils, soils and saturation extracts from eight liming experiments were studied. The soil pH was the best predictor of carrot Cd concentration. Liming had inconsistent effects on crop Cd concentrations. There was a decrease in crop Cd at sites with high crop Cd concentrations, but at sites with low Cd the Cd concentration in the crop increased. The Cd²⁺ solubility in the soils investigated was mainly controlled by soil pH and there was no detectable increase in Cd solubility due to additions of Ca(NO₃)₂ or of lime at higher pH levels. At sites with low crop Cd concentrations, the concentration of Cd in soil solution and batch extracts was also low. This indicates a low availability of metals in the soil, which can lead to micronutrient deficiency and a resultant decrease in biomass or to a release of exudates and a resultant increase in metal bioavailability. There were both visible Mn-deficiency symptoms and/or yield decreases in two of the experiments. It is probable that both plant factors and soil factors affect the solubility and availability of Cd. The Cd concentrations in crops were different between sites and in most cases larger than the effect of liming. The correlation between parameters in the saturation extracts and crop Cd was poor. Hence, analysis of soil solution extracts proved not to be a good tool for predicting crop Cd concentrations at low Cd concentrations in the soil solution.

The recommendation coming out of this thesis is to lime soils that have low soil pH and that are known to give high Cd concentrations in crops. Soils with low pH and low crop Cd concentrations should only be given minor or no additions of lime. The thesis also indicates that site selection may be more effective than liming in managing crop Cd.

Keywords: carrots, cereals, potatoes, pH, soil Cd, soil solution, Cd solubility, Ca^{2+} competition, site selection, saturation extracts.

Author's address: Gunilla Jansson, Department of Soil Sciences, SLU, P.O Box 7014, SE-750 07 UPPSALA, Sweden. *E-mail*: gunilla.jansson@mv.slu.se

List of abbreviations

BS	Base Saturation
BW	Body Weight
Cd _{org}	Organically bound Cd dissolved in water extracts
Cd _{tot}	Total concentration of dissolved Cd in water extracts
DOC	Dissolved Organic Carbon
DW	Dry Weight
EC	Electrical Conductivity
FA	Fulvic Acid
FAAS	Flame Atomic Absorption Spectrophotometry
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations
FW	Fresh Weight
FYM	Farm Yard Manure
GFAAS	Graphite Furnace Atomic Absorption Spectrophotometry
JECFA	Joint Expert Committee on Food Additives
OSCAR	OSteoporosis, CAdmium as a Risk factor
PTWI	Provisional Tolerable Weekly Intake
WHAM-W	Windemere Humic Acid Model – Water
WHO	World Health Organization

Contents

Introduction	7
Background	7
Cadmium in agricultural systems	8
Cadmium concentration in crops: Levels and limit values	10
Cadmium solubility in the soil environment	12
Soil solution: Cadmium forms and sampling techniques	12
Crop uptake of cadmium	13
Measures to reduce crop cadmium concentrations	14
Hypotheses and Objectives	16
Materials & Methods	17
Site and sampling description	17
Carrot fields	17
Liming experiments	17
Crop and soil sample preparation	18
Saturation extracts	18
Batch experiments	19
Soil analysis	19
Characterisation of the sampling areas and sites	19
Liming treatments	20
Saturation extracts and batch experiments	20
Plant analysis	20
Modelling the Cd speciation	20
Statistical analysis	21
Results & Discussion	21
Survey of Swedish carrots and paired soils	21
Soil properties in liming experiments	23
Effects of liming on soil properties and crop Cd concentration	24
Effects of pH and Ca ²⁺ on Cd solubility	26
Cd in crops from limed fields correlated to soil parameters	30
Concluding discussion	32
Conclusions	34
References	35
Acknowledgements	41

Appendix

Papers I-IV

The present thesis is based on the following papers, which will be referred to in the text by their Roman numerals:

- I. Jansson, G. & Öborn, I. 2000. Cadmium content of Swedish carrots and the influence of soil factors. *Acta Agriculturæ Scandinavica Section B, Soil and Plant Science 50,* 49-56.
- II. Jansson, G. & Öborn, I. Effects of liming on cadmium concentrations of potato tubers, cereal grains and straw. *Journal of Environmental Quality* (submitted).
- III. Jansson, G., Berggren, D. & Öborn, I. Effects of liming, pH and Ca²⁺ concentration on Cd solubility in four agricultural soils (manuscript).
- IV. Jansson, G., Öborn, I. & Smolders, E. Cd concentrations in crops related to different soil factors (manuscript).

Paper I was reproduced by permission of the journal concerned.

Related papers

Eriksson, J., Öborn. I., Jansson, G. & Andersson, A. 1996. Factors influencing Cdcontent in crops. Results from Swedish field investigations. *Swedish Journal of Agricultural Research 26*, 125-133.

Johnsson, L., Öborn, I., Jansson, G. & Berggren, D. 2002. Evidence for spring wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) uptake of cadmium from subsurface soils. *Journal of Environmental Quality* (submitted).

Öborn, I., Jansson, G. & Johnsson, L. 1995. A field study on the influence of soil pH on trace element levels in spring wheat *(Triticum aestivum)*, potatoes *(Solanum tuberosum)* and carrots *(Daucus carota)*. *Water, Air and Soil Pollution 85*, 835-840.

Introduction

Background

Cadmium (Cd) is a non-essential trace metal naturally occurring in the biosphere. The Cd pollution in our environment due to anthropogenic activities, such as mining, industry, agriculture and waste disposal started in the beginning of the 20^{th} Century and accelerated during the 1960s (Alloway, 1995). Only a few Cd-minerals are known and the abundance of those is very small. Cadmium is chemically very similar to Zn (Zn) and is therefore substituted as an impurity in Zn-minerals and thereby cadmium is obtained as a by-product of the smelting of zinc and other metals. In Sweden, Cd is used in batteries (101 ton yr⁻¹), in alloys (30 ton yr⁻¹), and as a pigment in artistic paints (1.5 ton yr⁻¹) (Hedlund *et al.*, 1997) (data from 1992). Cadmium also occurs as a substitute for Ca in apatite and calcite, which can give rise to impurities in P-fertilisers. The use of Cd in batteries has dramatically increased since the 1980s, but the use of Cd in other products has decreased.

During recent decades, Cd has been the subject of increasing interest as regards human health, crop production and soil science, due to its potential toxicity to man and its relatively high mobility from soil to plant. Cadmium is one of the most soluble trace metals in the soil. Andersson (1977) found in his study that 41% of 2M HNO₃ soluble Cd was released by the relatively weak extractant 1M NH₄OAc pH 4.8. Other trace metals had a much lower solubility e.g. zinc (Zn) 5%, manganese (Mn) 7% and nickel (Ni) 3%. The diet is the main source of Cd exposure for non-occupationally exposed humans (non-smokers) in Sweden. Smokers are exposed by the high concentration of Cd in tobacco leaves and the high absorption via the lungs (50%) (IPCS, 1992). Cereals, potatoes and vegetables account for 70% of the dietary intake (Grawé, 1996). The Cd concentration in cereals, potatoes and vegetables is not high compared to that in other food items, such as sunflower seed and linseed, kidney and liver from mammals and hepatopancreas in shellfish (Jorhem & Sundström, 1993), but since the intake of cereals, potatoes and vegetables is rather large, the total Cd intake from those sources is considerable. The average daily intake of Cd in Sweden is in the range of 9 to 12 ug day⁻¹ (Becker & Kumpulainen, 1991; Vather et al., 1996; Jorhem et al., 1998). Very little is known about the availability of Cd for humans in food items, but the availability may depend on several factors such as age, nutritional status and diet (Andersen et al., 1992). Iron (Fe) deficiency predisposes individuals to a higher Cd absorption and therefore women are a more vulnerable group since they are more prone to Fe deficiency (Berglund et al., 1994). On average, only a small percentage of the Cd from the diet is absorbed in the gastrointestinal tract.

The absorbed Cd is transported and accumulated in the kidneys and liver and the Cd content in the kidneys increases with age until approximately 50-60 years. The accumulation is due to the life-long intake via the diet and the long half-time of Cd in the kidney. The half-time for Cd is in the order of 10-30 years (Järup *et al.*, 1998). The Cd accumulation in kidneys leads to tubular renal damage, which affects the capacity to reabsorb substances from the primary urine. This kidney damage can progress to a disturbed vitamin D and calcium metabolism, which can cause osteoporosis (Alfven *et al.*, 2000).

A Joint Expert Committee on Food Additives (JECFA) appointed by FAO/WHO has decided that the Provisional Tolerable Weekly Intake (PTWI) of Cd should be 7 μ g Cd kg⁻¹ body weight (BW) (WHO, 2001). This corresponds to 60 μ g Cd day⁻¹ at a body weight of 60 kg. An intake of the PTWI over 45 years is calculated to give $< 50 \text{ mg Cd kg}^{-1}$ in the kidney cortex, which is believed to cause no health effects. However, there are indications that kidney damage occurs at lower intakes of Cd (Buchet et al., 1995; Elinder & Järup, 1996; Alfven et al., 2000; Järup et al., 2000). Recent findings in the OSCAR project (osteoporosis, cadmium as a risk factor) show that tubular proteinuria occurs in environmentally exposed people at lower concentrations of cumulative cadmium dose than was previously realised (Järup et al., 2000). Järup et al. (2000) found signs of kidney damage at kidney Cd levels of 50 mg kg⁻¹ and about 2% of the Swedish population have concentrations exceeding that value (Barregård et al., 1999). Järup et al. (2000) suggest that food Cd should be minimised and that the current standards for intake of cadmium should be lowered. There is also increasing evidence that Cd accumulation can lead to skeletal damage, such as osteoporosis, at low levels of exposure to Cd (Alfven et al., 2000).

Cadmium in agricultural systems

The Cd concentration differs naturally between different kinds of rocks and their corresponding parent materials and soils. Thus the Cd concentration in unpolluted soils differs depending on the parent material from which the soil originates. Söderström & Eriksson (1996) found a significant correlation between the origin of the parent material and the general Cd concentration in the surface soil of agricultural soils in southern Sweden. Soils that originate from alum shales are very likely to contain high concentrations of Cd.

The median Cd concentration in surface and subsurface soils was determined to be 0.20 mg kg⁻¹ (n=3067) and 0.10 mg kg⁻¹ (n=1717), respectively, in a survey of Swedish arable soils (Eriksson *et al.*, 1997). The Cd concentrations in surface soil were correlated to subsurface soil Cd concentrations, which indicates a strong influence from the parent material. The areas with the highest values were those with alum shales as parent material. The surface soils had on average a 61% higher Cd concentration than the subsurface soils (Eriksson *et al.*, 1997). This difference is probably due to anthropogenic inputs, atmospheric deposition and natural processes. The difference of 61% can be compared to the increase of 33% due to P-fertilisation and atmospheric deposition, which was estimated by Andersson (1992) for the period 1900-1992. The median pH (H₂O, 1:2.5) in Swedish arable surface soils is 6.3 and the minimum and maximum values are 4.2 and 8.7, respectively (n=3105) (Eriksson *et al.*, 1997). Twenty-five percent of Swedish arable land has a pH lower than 6.0. However, the most important areas for crop production have median pH values that are higher than the median for the whole country (Eriksson *et al.*, 1997).

In Sweden, the most important input sources of Cd in arable soils are atmospheric deposition and commercial phosphorus fertilisers, since sewage sludge is added only to a minor proportion of soils and since urban and industrial activity is still rather low in Sweden (Andersson, 1992) (Fig. 1). Budget calculations made by Andersson (1992) indicate that the Cd concentration of the surface soil had increased by 33% since 1900 and in 1990 the annual change in surface soil Cd concentration was on average 0.21% (Table 1). Eriksson (2000) has made some new Cd balances with updated values from 2000 and calculated the change to be 0.03% in the surface soil (Table 1). The reason for the lower accumulation, which Eriksson (2001) found are that: (i) atmospheric deposition has decreased during the past decade due to measures taken in Europe to reduce heavy metal emissions into the air (ii) smaller inputs of Cd from P-fertiliser are being applied and (iii) leaching was calculated differently (Table 1). In Sweden, there is a tax on Cd in P-fertiliser containing more than 5 mg Cd kg⁻¹ and also a restriction against import of Pfertiliser containing more than 100 mg Cd kg⁻¹ P. This has led to the use of low Cd containing P-fertiliser and thereby a lowered input of Cd to arable soils. In Andersson's (1992) budget calculation, the leaching was based on Cd concentrations in the drainage water, while in Eriksson's (2001) budget calculations the leaching was based on Cd concentrations in the surface soil solution. The total Cd accumulation was the same in the Finnish budget calculation (Table 1) as in the Swedish one, even though the input and removal values were somewhat different (Moolenaar, 1999). In the Finnish budget, manure was added to the soil, but the atmospheric deposition was lower than in the Swedish budget.



Fig. 1. Cd fluxes in Swedish arable soils.

	Sweden 1990 ¹	Sweden 2000 ²	Finland ³
	no livestock	no livestock	countrywide
	South Sweden	South Sweden	averages
Input, (g ha ⁻¹ year ⁻¹)			
P-fertiliser	0.72^4	0.12^5	0.10
Manure	-	-	0.22
Deposition	0.78^{6}	0.70^{7}	0.15
Lime	0.02	0.02	0.03
Sludge	-	-	0.02
Total input	1.52	0.84	0.52
Removal, (g ha ⁻¹ year ⁻¹)			
Crops	0.21	0.23	0.14
Leaching	0.06^{8}	0.40^{9}	0.06
Runoff	-	-	0.11
Total removal	0.27	0.63	0.31
Accumulation	1.25	0.21	0.21
Change in topsoil (%)	0.21	0.03	-

Table 1. Cadmium balances for average arable land in Sweden and Finland

¹Andersson, 1992; ²Eriksson, 2001; ³Moolenaar, 1999; ⁴11 kg P ha⁻¹ containing 65 mg Cd kg⁻¹ P; ⁵10 kg P ha⁻¹ containing 12 mg Cd kg⁻¹ P, data from 1999; ⁶ Data from 1990; ⁷Data from 1995; ⁸Cd in drainage water, 1m depth; ⁹Cd in surface (0-25cm) soil solution

Cd concentration in crops: Levels and limit values

The Cd concentration of Swedish winter wheat, oats, barley, carrots and potatoes has been investigated in national surveys (Table 2) (Eriksson, 1990; Eriksson et al., 2000; Jansson & Öborn, 2000; Grawé et al., 2001). The Swedish spring wheat Cd concentration has not been systematically investigated, but spring wheat was included in a field study where the influence of soil pH on crop Cd concentrations was the main focus (Öborn et al., 1995). Eriksson (1990) found that 5-10% of samples of Swedish winter wheat grain had Cd concentrations near or above the limit value for cereals (0.1 mg kg⁻¹) suggested by the CODEX committee on cereals, pulses and legumes (FAO/WHO, 1993). However, they were below the EU limit values for cereals (oats and barley grain 0.1; wheat grain 0.2 mg kg⁻¹) valid from 2002 (EG, 2001; Grawé, 2001). The EU limit value for carrots and potatoes is 0.1 mg Cd kg⁻¹ fresh weight (FW), which corresponds to a value of 0.9 mg kg⁻¹ dry weight (DW) for carrots and 0.5 mg kg⁻¹ DW for potatoes. Swedish surveys conducted in 1993-1994 (carrots) and 1999 (potatoes) found that the EU value was not exceeded in any carrot or potato sample (Jansson & Öborn, 2000; Grawé et al., 2001).

The Cd concentration in wheat grains and carrots was similar in investigations in a number of countries while the Cd concentration in potato tubers was much lower in Sweden and Norway than in Poland, Australia and the United Kingdom (Table 2).

Country	Crop	n	Median	Min	Max
Sweden ¹	Carrots	72	0.24	0.06	0.82
Denmark ²	دد	18	0.20	0.06	1.73
Netherlands ³	**	100	0.27	0.045	1.45
USA^4	**	207	0.15	0.018	1.18
Sweden ⁵	Potato tubers	75	0.041	0.004	0.142
Australia ⁶	**	359	0.150	0.02	1.05
United	**	20	0.150	-	-
Kingdom ⁷					
Norway ⁸	"	79	0.060	< 0.010	0.225
Poland ⁹	**	6306	0.11	-	-
Sweden ¹⁰	Barley grains	327	0.019	0.002	0.076
United		233	0.019	-	-
Kingdom ¹¹					
Sweden ¹⁰	Oat grains	208	0.036	0.002	0.505
Poland ¹²	Rye	2523	0.03	-	
Sweden ¹³	Spring wheat grains	43	0.056	0.014	0.163
Sweden ¹²	Winter wheat grains	606	0.044	0.007	0.229
Netherlands ⁴		84	0.06	0.07	0.35
Poland ¹²	Wheat grains	3098	0.07	-	-
United		250	0.053	-	-
Kingdom ¹¹					

Table 2. Cd concentrations in crops from different countries (mg kg⁻¹ DW)

¹Jansson & Öborn 2000; ²Andersen, 1979; ³Wiersma *et al.*, 1986; ⁴Wolnik *et al.*, 1985; ⁵Grawé *et al.*, 2001; ⁶McLaughlin *et al.*, 1997b; ⁷ Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food, 1997; ⁸Alne & Gjerstad, 1998; ⁹Kabata-Pendias *et al.*, 2001; ¹⁰Eriksson *et al.*, 2000; ¹¹Adams *et al.*, 2000; ¹²Terelak *et al.*, 2001; ¹³Öborn *et al.*, 1995

Andersson & Bingefors (1985) found a doubling of the Cd concentration in winter wheat grains between the years 1918 to 1980 (Fig. 2). The increased Cd concentration could be due partly to increased solubility of the soil Cd and partly to increased total Cd concentration in the soil. The Cd concentration in wheat grains from a long-term field experiment between (1880 to 1980) at Rothamsted, UK, decreased in plots treated with FYM and increased in control plots and plots treated with P-fertilizer (Jones & Johnston, 1989).



Fig. 2. Cd concentration in winter wheat grains grown between the years 1918 to 1980 in Sweden (from Andersson & Bingefors, 1985).

Cd solubility in the soil environment

In the soil environment, cadmium can occur in three forms: as solid precipitates; associated to solid soil components; and as a solute in the soil solution. In most soils, 99% of the Cd in the soil is associated to soil colloids and only 1% is located in the soil solution (Christensen & Huang, 1999). Cadmium can form precipitates with $CO_3^{2^-}$, S^{2^-} , $PO_4^{3^-}$ and OH^- in the soil. However, in most soils where arable crops are grown the redox potential is to high and the pH, Cd and anion concentration are too low to form any Cd-precipitates (Christensen & Huang, 1999). Therefore, Cd is most likely controlled by sorption processes in the soil and not by precipitation of Cd minerals.

The Cd sorption to solid particles in the soil depends on several factors, such as pH, clay content, organic matter content, amount of Al- Fe- and Mn-oxides, cationic competition and complexation with ligands in the soil solution. Cd is bound in the soil in two ways; surface complexation or electrostatic adsorption (Tiller *et al.*, 1979; Tiller *et al.*, 1984; McBride, 1994). Cadmium is bound as surface complexes to organic matter (eq. 1), or to OH-groups on the surface edges of oxides and clay minerals (eq. 2).

$$RH_{2(s)} + Cd^{2+}_{(aq)} \leftrightarrow RCd_{(s)} + 2H^{+}_{(aq)}$$
 eq. 1

$$\text{FeOH}_{(s)} + \text{Cd}^{2+}_{(aq)} \leftrightarrow \text{FeOCd}^{+}_{(s)} + \text{H}^{+}_{(aq)}$$
 eq. 2

Reactions 1 and 2 are strongly pH dependent. The Cd adsorption to OH-groups becomes higher at increasing pH-values (Zasoski & Burau, 1988; Zachara *et al.*, 1992) and surface complexation to organic matter can occur at lower pH-values. The electrostatic adsorption is mainly to clay minerals (2:1 minerals) which have a large proportion of permanent charges (eq. 3).

$$Cd-Clay + Ca^{2+}_{(aq)} \leftrightarrow Ca-Clay + Cd^{2+}_{(aq)} eq. 3$$

To the electrostatic binding sites, Ca^{2+} as well as Zn^{2+} are strong competitors to Cd^{2+} , which can lead to an increased Cd solubility when Ca^{2+} and Zn^{2+} are applied (Christensen, 1984; Christensen, 1987; Boekhoeld *et al.*, 1993; Temminghoff *et al.*, 1995).

Soil solution: Cadmium forms and sampling techniques

The composition of the soil solution is very important since the soil solution is closely connected to other Cd-pools in the soil and since plant uptake of Cd and other trace elements takes place in the soil solution (Wolt, 1994). Therefore the composition of the soil solution might be an appropriate indicator for the Cd concentration in crops. The free cadmium ions and potentially the complexed species in the soil solution interact with the Cd species bound to the solid phase by sorption and ion-exchange. Cadmium in soil solution can be present as free, hydrated cations or as species bound to inorganic or organic ligands. Cadmium can also be bound to inorganic or organic colloids suspended in the soil solution. There

is no adequate definition on dissolved or particulate Cd and often the size of a membrane filter decides the definition (Helmke, 2000). The suspended particles are organic particles and hydroxy-polymers of Fe and Al. Even if the colloids are mostly not considered to be a part of the soil solution, their intimate association with the solution will affect the behaviour of Cd. It is not only the soil's potential to sorb Cd that determines the Cd concentration in soil solution. High concentrations of ligands in the soil solution, which can be complex bound to Cd, can also increase the total Cd concentration in the soil solution.

There are several different sampling techniques for soil solutions, both laboratory and field methods. Some laboratory methods are high speed centrifugation (undisturbed soil columns), saturation extracts, immiscible displacement, water extracts and column displacement. Field methods are *e.g.* sampling with tension lysimeters and monolith lysimeters (Wolt, 1994). There is unfortunately no perfect method, as all existing methods have disadvantages and affect the soil solution in different ways. In addition, it is not only the sampling of the soil solution that is connected with difficulties. Other factors that can affect the composition of the soil solution are *e.g.* soil sample storage (time, moisture and temperature) (Edmeades *et al.*, 1985; Ross & Bartlett, 1990) and method of Cd speciation.

Crop uptake of cadmium

The Cd concentration in agricultural crops is influenced by soil factors, plant properties, pollution inputs, agricultural management practices and climate. Several studies have shown that important soil factors affecting crop Cd concentration are pH, Cd and Zn concentrations, organic matter, soil texture and complexing ligands. The Cd concentration in crops tends to be highest in soils with a low pH, low organic matter content, high soil Cd concentration and low or high soil Zn concentration (Eriksson, 1990; He & Singh, 1995; Öborn *et al.*, 1995; Eriksson & Söderström, 1996; Wenzel *et al.*, 1996; McLaughlin *et al.*, 1997b; Jansson & Öborn, 2000). Most research has focused on soil factors in the plough layer. However, some plants have deep roots growing into the sub-soil and thus soil factors in those layers are also important. It has been shown that 15-37% of the Cd in wheat grains was taken up from the sub-surface layers (Johnsson *et al.*, 2002).

Some of the plant factors that can affect the Cd concentration are: species, variety, root activity and rooting pattern (Welch & Norvell, 1999). In leafy vegetables Cd accumulates in the leaves, whereas in cereals, accumulation is greatest in the roots and declines towards the top of the plant (Cutler & Rains, 1974). The plant Cd level and the way Cd is distributed within the plant differ between species as well as between cultivars within the same species. The Cd concentration in cereal grains tends to decline in the order: wheat > oat > barley (Eriksson *et al.*, 2000). Differences have been found in Cd concentrations between cultivars of wheat (Pettersson, 1977; Andersson & Pettersson, 1981; Eriksson, 1990; Cieśliński *et al.*, 1996; Wenzel *et al.*, 1996), potatoes (McLaughlin *et al.*, 1994; Grawé *et al.*, 2001), carrots (Harrison, 1986), oats (Eriksson, 1990) and flax

(Cieśliński *et al.*, 1996). Cieśliński *et al.* (1996) also found differences in the distribution of Cd concentrations in plants due to cultivar and soil factors. Different root activities of plants can also affect the Cd solubility in the rhizosphere and thereby influence the Cd concentration in the plant. Root processes can affect the Cd concentration in plants, *e.g.* root efflux of H^+ , reductants (phenolic compounds), organic acids (*e.g.* citrate) and non-protein amino acids (*e.g.* phytosiderophores) (Welch & Norvell, 1999).

The Cd concentration in crops grown at the same site is known to differ between years (Andersson & Bingefors, 1985). Andersson & Bingefors (1985) found large annual variations (\pm 30-50%) in winter wheat Cd concentrations (Fig. 2) and there was a close to significant (p=0.053) correlation to precipitation during the growing period (June to August). Eriksson *et al.* (1990) found a significant positive correlation between grain Cd concentration in oat and precipitation. The annual variation in crop Cd concentration as reflected by correlation to precipitation could be due to variations in factors such as atmospheric deposition, redox potential, pH and rooting pattern.

Most research has focused on the uptake of aqueous Cd^{2+} in crops and little attention has been given to other Cd species in the soil solution (Welch & Norvell, 1999). Complexation of cadmium with inorganic ligands (*e.g.* Cl⁻ and SO_4^{2-}) and organic ligands (*e.g.* humic and fulvic acids) will increase the total amount of Cd in the soil solution and some of these Cd-complexes may be taken up directly by the plant (Smolders & McLaughlin, 1996a,b; McLaughlin *et al.*, 1998a,b). Smolders & McLaughlin (1996b) found in their studies an increased Cd concentration in Swiss chard when Cl⁻ concentrations were increased. The crop Cd increase could be due to phytoavailability of the increased CdCl_n²⁻ⁿ concentration or to enhanced Cd diffusion in the areas close to the roots or into the plant roots.

Measures to reduce crop cadmium concentrations

Some measures have been proposed to reduce Cd concentrations in crops, *e.g.* liming, Zn fertilisation, plant breeding and site selection.

Regular liming has been suggested as a measure for decreasing the plant uptake of Cd since soil pH is one of the most important factors influencing the solubility of Cd in soils. However, the effects of liming on Cd concentrations in agricultural crops have been conflicting, with both decreases, increases as well as no effects being reported (Andersson & Simán, 1991; Sparrow *et al.*, 1993; Oliver *et al.*, 1996; Maier *et al.*, 1997; Sparrow & Salardini, 1997; Tyler & Olsson, 2001; Jansson & Öborn, 2002). There are several possible explanations for these inconsistent results. An increase or zero crop response in Cd concentration could be due to (i) a large proportion of the Cd being taken up by the plants from the subsurface soil, which is unaffected by the lime, and thus the effect of liming is diminished, (ii) competition by added Ca^{2+} on the binding sites in the soil, which leads to higher or unaffected Cd solubility/availability, (iii) increased Cd solubility due to higher dissolution of DOC around lime particles above pH 7.5 and a following complex binding, (iv) micronutrient deficiency induced by the liming,

which leads to lower crop biomass and a subsequent enrichment of crop Cd concentration, (v) micronutrient deficiency, which leads to plant release of root exudates and a subsequent increased solubility/availability of Cd or (vi) micronutrient deficiency which leads to reallocation of micronutrients and Cd within the plant. A zero crop response could also be due to relatively high pH in the unlimed plots, which leads to a very small or no difference in Cd solubility/availability between unlimed and limed plots.

There are several theories behind the possible effects of Zn addition on Cd concentration in crops. The decrease in Cd concentration in plants could be due to (i) Zn and Cd competition for binding sites on root surfaces (ii) Zn deficiency leading to disturbed root cell membranes and an uncontrolled mass flow of cations into the cell and (iii) plants releasing exudates at Zn deficiency, which increases the availability of both Zn and Cd (Welch & Norvell, 1999). However, addition of Zn can lead to competition for binding sites on soil particles and thus an increased Cd solubility (Christensen, 1987) and availability. Results in Zn addition studies have been contradictory, with reported increases (Williams & David, 1976), decreases (Oliver *et al.*, 1994; Choudhary *et al.*, 1995; Grant & Bailey, 1997) and zero responses (Grant & Bailey, 1998).

Several studies have shown that there are differences between cultivars in the amount of Cd accumulated and in the pattern of distribution within the plant (Pettersson, 1977; Andersson & Pettersson, 1981; Harrison, 1986; Eriksson, 1990; McLaughlin *et al.*, 1994; Cieśliński *et al.*, 1996; Wenzel *et al.*, 1996; Grawé *et al.*, 2001). Theoretically, this fact makes plant breeding an appropriate measure for reducing Cd concentrations in edible crops. However, the differences in Cd concentrations between cultivars are not very large.

Cadmium concentrations in crops has been shown to vary considerably between regions and sites (Andersson & Pettersson, 1981; McLaughlin *et al.*, 1994; Eriksson *et al.*, 2000). These differences in crop Cd concentrations between regions and sites are probably due to differences in *e.g.* atmospheric deposition, parent material, Cd concentration in soil, pH, soil texture, organic matter, and usage patterns of cultivars and fertilisers. Often the largest difference in crop Cd concentration occurs between sites and not between different soil treatments or cultivars. Thus site selection is sometimes a more powerful tool in reducing crop Cd concentrations than changes in soil or plant factors.

Hypotheses & Objectives

The main objectives of this thesis were to (i) investigate soil factors influencing crop Cd concentrations; and (ii) evaluate liming as a measure for reducing Cd concentrations in arable crops and thereby decrease the intake of Cd via food and lower the health risk of Cd.

The following hypotheses were tested in this thesis:

- I. Cd solubility and plant availability are mainly controlled by the soil pH. Therefore liming will decrease the Cd concentration in crops.
- II. High additions of lime (calcite) can cause calcium-cadmium competition on the binding sites on the soil particles and thereby increase the Cd solubility and plant availability.
- III. Liming decreases both the Cd and micronutrient availability in the soil and thus liming induces micronutrient deficiency. This deficiency leads to smaller biomass and enrichment in Cd concentration.

The specific objectives of the studies were:

- To determine the influence of soil factors on the Cd concentration in carrots grown under field conditions (*Paper I*).
- To investigate the effects of different lime (calcite) application rates on yield and Cd concentrations in potato tubers, cereal grains and straw in field experiments (*Paper II*).
- To investigate the effects of liming (calcite) on Cd solubility in soils covering a wide range in clay content and to assess the role of pH relative to the Ca²⁺ competition in controlling the Cd solubility (*Paper III*).
- To investigate the correlation between Cd concentrations in crops in liming experiments and soil factors, *i.e.* Cd species in soil solution and soil extracts, and to try to find possible explanations to the inconsistent effects of liming on crop Cd concentration found in the field experiments (*Paper IV*).

Materials & Methods

Site and sampling description

Carrot fields (Paper I)

Paired soil and carrot (*Daucus carota* L.) samples were taken in 1993 (n=36) and 1994 (n=36) from commercial carrot fields within the most important areas of carrot production in Sweden (Fig. 3). The areas are situated between 55°N and 60°N. Carrots from five counties were sampled in the first year. Together, these counties accounted for 87% of the Swedish carrots produced in this year. In the second year, two additional counties were added to the sampling scheme so that the sampled counties accounted for 97% of the total production (SCB, 1988; SCB, 1991). The samples were collected from different fields in the two years.

In each field, a site was selected where paired soil and carrot samples were taken at harvest time. All carrots in a 2-m long section of a row were dug up, weighed and mixed, and a random subsample weighing 2 kg was taken for analysis. In the harvested row, eight sub-samples from the surface soil (plough layer) were sampled, mixed and combined to obtain a single 1-kg sample. The soil samples were taken with an auger to a depth of 25 cm (Ap or Hp horizon).



Fig. 3. Map of Sweden showing the sites of liming experiments (\bullet) and the areas sampled in the carrot survey (shadowed areas).

Liming experiments (Papers II-IV)

Seven long-term liming experiments and one newly established liming experiment were sampled. The sites were located in some of the major agricultural regions in the whole of Sweden and represent different parent materials, textures and climatic conditions (Fig. 3). The surface soil (plough layer 0-25cm) in the field experiments was limed to reach different levels of base saturation, *i.e.* unlimed and limed to 55, 70 and 100% BS respectively, except in the recently established experiment where the 100% BS was excluded. The long-term field experiments were limed for the first time in 1983 and thereafter maintenance limed in 1985 and every fourth year. The recently established field was limed at the start in 1996. Finely ground (0-0.5mm) calcite (50% CaO) was used. In all experiments, there were four replicates of each treatment (randomised blocks).

In 1993-1997, potatoes (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) (fresh market) were grown at five different sites, three of which were used for two years. In 1994-1998, cereals, *i.e.* oats (*Avena sativa* L.), barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L.), winter wheat and spring wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) were grown at five different sites. At each site, cereals were sampled for one to four years.

Samples of soil, potato tubers, cereal grain and straw were taken from each plot at harvest time. In every plot, 20 sub-samples of the surface soil (0-20 cm) (Ap horizon) and the subsoil (40-60 cm) were taken with an auger. The sub-samples were pooled, thoroughly mixed and a composite sample of 2 kg was saved for analysis.

Crop and soil sample preparation (Paper I, II and IV)

Five potato tubers or carrots of median size were randomly selected, brushed, peeled and cut into cubes (0.5cm^3) and freeze-dried. Grain and straw were air-dried to $\leq 15\%$ water content. The straw was chopped into pieces of 0.5-1cm length. Soil samples were (i) frozen (-20 °C) and/or (ii) air-dried, crushed and sieved at 2-mm and stored in darkness in plastic bags until analysis.

Saturation extracts (Paper III)

Surface soil samples from four replicates of the different liming treatments of four field experiments were included in the study. The field experiments used were Kövlinge, Nättraby, Eckerud and Östuna (Fig. 3). The sites were selected to represent a wide range in clay content and crop Cd concentrations (Table 3). To obtain saturation extracts, deionized water was added to thawed soil samples until saturation was reached (van Reeuwijk, 1993). The amounts of added soil and water depended on soil texture and water content in the soil. The soil-water paste was homogenised by hand-stirring with a plastic spoon. The saturated soil was equilibrated for 16h at 12 °C and thereafter centrifuged, membrane filtered and divided into two subsamples, of which one was acidified (1% HNO₃).

Batch experiments (Paper III)

In the batch experiments only surface soil from the unlimed plots from four liming experiments (Kövlinge, Nättraby, Eckerud and Östuna) was used and the four replicates were pooled to give one composite sample. Three grams of thawed soil and 30 ml solution were added to a plastic vessel. The pH levels were set in the soil by adding either HNO₃ or NaOH. Three different experiments were conducted and in each of the experiments different electrolytes were used. The electrolytes used were:

0.01M NaNO₃ Expt. "lowNa";

0.01M NaNO₃ + 0.01M Ca(NO₃)₂ Expt. "Ca";

0.10M NaNO3 Expt. "highNa".

The soil was equilibrated for four days in an end-over-end rotator at 12 °C. After equilibration the soil was centrifuged and thereafter filtered.

Soil analysis

Characterisation of the sampling areas and sites

In order to characterise the soils included in the studies particle-size distribution, pH (soil-water, 1:2.5), electrical conductivity (EC) (soil:water, 1:2.5), total carbon (C) and 2M HNO₃-extractable trace metal concentrations (Andersson, 1975) were conducted on the soil samples. The trace metal concentrations (Cd, Zn, Mn and Cu) were measured by flame atomic absorption spectrophotometry (FAAS) or graphite furnace atomic absorption spectrophotometry (GFAAS) (Perkin Elmer Zeeman 3030 with an HGA-600 graphite furnace).

Extractions with EDTA pH 4.65, CuCl₂ (Juo & Kamprath, 1979), ammonium oxalate ($(NH_4)_2C_2O_2$) pH 3.25 (van Reeuwijk, 1993), and sodium dithionite-citrate (van Reeuwijk, 1993) were made on fresh surface soil samples from four liming experiments (Kövlinge, Nättraby, Eckerud and Östuna) (Fig. 3). Metal concentrations (Al, Fe, Mn and Cd) were measured by FAAS (Perkin Elmer Aanalyst 300) or GFAAS (Perkin Elmer Zeeman 3030 with an HGA-600 graphite furnace).

A sequential extraction was conducted on surface and subsurface soil samples from unlimed plots of some of the liming experiments (Nättraby, Eckerud, Östuna and Öjebyn) (Fig. 3). The extractants used were 1M NH₄NO₃, 0.1M Na₃PO₄, 0.1M ammonium oxalate ((NH₄)₂C₂O₂) pH 3.25 and 7M HNO₃. The sequential method used was based on principles suggested by McLaren & Crawford (1973), Elsokkary & Låg (1978) and Swedish Standard 028311 (1997). The method used is described in detail by Alriksson (1997). Cadmium, Zn and Cu were analysed in the extracts by GFAAS (Perkin Elmer Zeeman 3030 with HGA-600 graphite furnace) and FAAS.

Liming treatments

Exchangeable Cd and Zn (1M NH_4NO_3) (only in Kövlinge, Nättraby, Eckerud, Östuna and Öjebyn), pH, EC, total C and 2M HNO_3 extractable trace metal concentrations (Andersson, 1975) were determined in surface soil samples from all treatments in the liming experiments. The trace metal concentrations (Cd, Zn, Mn and Cu) were measured by GFAAS and FAAS as described above.

Saturation extracts and batch experiments

In the saturation extracts and batch experiment extracts pH, EC, concentrations of major cations and anions, dissolved organic carbon (DOC) and Cd were determined. The major cations and anions (only in saturation extracts) were analysed on an ion chromatography (Dionex 2000i/SP), DOC was analysed by Shimadzu TOC-5000A (TC/IC method) and the Cd concentration was analysed by GFAAS with triple injections (Perkin Elmer Zeeman 4110ZL with HGA-600 graphite furnace). In the batch experiment, aluminium was also measured and the cations were analysed using ICP-AES (Perkin Elmer Optima 3000DV).

Plant analysis

For trace metal analysis 2 g carrot cubes (freeze-dried), 2 g potato cubes (freezedried), 2 g whole cereal grains or 1 g chopped straw pieces were totally dissolved by digestion in 10+5 ml concentrated HNO₃ (supra pure) at 135 °C for 17 h using a Tecator Digester equipment. The trace metal concentrations in the crops were analysed by FAAS (Zn, Mn and Cu) (Perkin Elmer Aanalyst 300) and GFAAS (Cd) (Perkin Elmer Zeeman 3030 and 4110ZL with HGA-600 graphite furnace) Addition calibration was used in the analysis of Cd. In the addition calibration, the extract from one sample is used as a matrix to which the standards are added, whereupon a calibration curve is constructed. Reference material, *i.e.* carrotpotato- or wheat-flour from the Agricultural Research Centre of Finland (ARC/CL) and blanks were included in every digestion and each trace metal determination.

Modelling the Cd speciation

Activities and concentrations of the various Cd species in the saturation and batch extracts were calculated using the chemical model WHAM-W (Tipping, 1994). The model describes the protonation and metal binding by humic substances (electrostatic binding and complexation). The standard database WATER 10 (Tipping, 1994) was used in these Cd calculations. All the measured ions, DOC and pH in the extracts were used in the calculations. The model calculates the following Cd species, Cd^{2+} , $CdCl^-$, $CdCl_2^0$, $CdSO_4^0$, $CdOH^-$ and $Cd(OH)_2^0$ and Cd bound to fulvic acids (Cd_{org}). In the calculations we assumed that 50% of the DOC was fulvic acids, having a C content of 50%.

Statistical analysis

The results were analysed by analysis of variance, simple linear regression, multiple regression and stepwise multiple regression using SYSTAT for Windows Versions 5 and 8.0 (SYSTAT, 1992; SYSTAT, 1998). Significance levels used were $p \le 0.05$ in analysis of variance and simple regression and $p \le 0.15$ in multiple regression. In the stepwise multiple regression, forward selection was used to find the combination of x variables (predictors) showing the best fit.

Results & Discussion

Survey of Swedish carrots and paired soils (Paper I)

Commercially produced carrots (*Daucus carota* L.) were sampled in 1993 and 1994 from the most important areas of carrot production in Sweden. There was a wide variation in the Cd concentration in the sampled carrots, with a minimum of 0.06 mg kg⁻¹ DW (0.007 mg kg⁻¹ FW) and a maximum of 0.87 mg kg⁻¹ DW (0.09 mg kg⁻¹ FW) (Fig. 4). The median Cd concentration of the carrots was 0.24 mg kg⁻¹ DW (0.03 mg kg⁻¹ FW) (Table 2). There was no significant difference between the median values from the two years. Twenty-four percent of the samples exceeded 0.05 mg kg⁻¹ FW (0.45 mg kg⁻¹ DW), which is the limit value used in the production of infant food in Sweden, but none of the samples exceeded 0.10 mg kg⁻¹ FW (0.9 mg kg⁻¹ DW), which is the present limit value in the EU (EG, 2001). The values in this study were similar to values in other studies reported from Denmark, the Netherlands and the USA (Anderssen, 1979; Wolnik *et al.*, 1985; Wiersma *et al.*, 1986) (Table 2).



Fig. 4. Cd concentrations in carrots sampled during 1993 and 1994 in Sweden (mg kg⁻¹ DW).

The sampled soils were either sandy soils or organic soils. The median surfacesoil pH was 6.3 and the pH values varied greatly (from 5.0 to 8.1) both between and within counties (Fig. 5a,b). The median concentration of Cd (2M HNO₃) in the surface soil was 0.30 mg kg⁻¹ and the range was between 0.15 and 0.58 mg kg⁻¹. The median Cd concentration in this study was somewhat higher than the median concentration $(0.20 \text{ mg kg}^{-1})$ found in a survey of Swedish agricultural soils (Eriksson *et al.*, 1997).

Since there was no significant difference in carrot Cd concentration between the two sampling years, carrot and soil samples from the two years were pooled for statistical analysis. The soil samples and corresponding carrot samples were divided into two groups: soils with an organic C content lower than 7% (mineral soils) (n=37) and soils with an organic C content equal to or higher than 7% (organic soils) (n=35). Simple linear regressions and stepwise multiple linear regressions relating the log₁₀ Cd concentration of carrots to surface soil factors such as pH, organic C content, and Cd concentration, were carried out. I used the log₁₀ since the Cd concentration of carrots was more close to a normal distribution after log transformation.

In both soil groups there was a significant negative correlation between surface soil pH (0-25 cm) and the Cd concentration in carrots. The regression coefficient (R^2) was 0.51 in mineral soils and 0.77 in organic soils (Fig. 5a,b). The relation between soil organic C and Cd in carrots was not significant in any of the soil groups. The Cd concentration in carrots was significantly and positively correlated to Cd in soil (2M HNO₃) in organic soils (R^2 =0.35), but there was no significant correlation in mineral soils.



Fig. 5. Relation between surface-soil pH and \log_{10} Cd concentration of carrots sampled in two consecutive years; *(a)* in mineral soils (R²=0.51, *n*=37) and *(b)* in organic soils (R²=0.77, *n*=35).

A stepwise multiple regression was carried out in which the log_{10} Cd concentration of carrots was related to pH, organic C and Cd concentrations of the surface soil. In the group with mineral soils, the pH and Cd concentration of the surface soil were included in the model and explained 62% of the variation in the Cd concentration of carrots (eq. 4). In the group with organic soils, all three soil

factors were included in the model and explained 85% of the variation in the Cd concentration of carrots (eq. 5).

 $log_{10}Cd_{carrot} = 4.16 - 0.29*pH + 1.00*Cd_{soil}$ (mineral) R²=0.62eq. 4

 $log_{10}Cd_{carrot} = 4.11 - 0.28*pH - 0.007*org-C + 0.34*Cd_{soil}$ (organic) R²=0.85eq. 5

Soil properties in liming experiments (Paper II-IV)

The clay content in the plough layer (A_p) varied widely between sites, 8-62%. The pH in the unlimed A_p -horizons was acid to slightly acid (5.0-6.2). The B-horizons included both highly acid and neutral conditions, which led to a wide range in subsurface soil pH from 3.3 to 7.0. The soil Cd concentration extracted by 2M HNO₃ was in the range of 0.10 to 0.41 mg kg⁻¹ (Table 3). These values are both lower and higher than the Swedish average level (0.22 mg kg⁻¹) (Eriksson *et al.*, 1997). Cadmium concentrations in soil samples from unlimed plots in the liming experiments extracted by 1M NH₄NO₃ were 0.008-0.063 mg kg⁻¹, which corresponds to 6-38% of the HNO₃-extractable fraction.

Table 3. Characterisation and classification (FAO, 1988) of the soil profiles at the fields outside the liming experiments

Soil/	Depth	Clay ¹	Org	pН	CEC _{pH7}	Cd^1	Cd	Zn	Mn
horiz	(cm)		C	H_2O	cmol	NH ₄ NO ₃		HNO ₃	
		(%)	(%)	1:2.5	kg ⁻¹	mg kg ⁻¹	r	ng kg ⁻	1
Kövlin	ge, Dystric	Regoso	1						
Ap	0-37	8	3.3	5.7	25	0.009	0.10	18	-
\mathbf{B}_{w1}	46-68	4	-	5.3	-	-	-	-	-
Nättral	y, Eutric (Cambiso	1		_				
Ap	0-27	21	1.8	6.0	15^{2}	0.013	0.14	49	370
\mathbf{B}_{w2}	37-62	52	0.4	7.0	-	0.003	0.10	43	450
Eckeru	d, Eutric C	Cambisol	l						
Ap	0-20	40	3.1	6.2	22^{2}	0.008	0.18	58	380
B_{gw3}	45-60	47	0.5	6.6	-	0.005	0.07	47	430
Östuna	, Gleyic Ca	ambisol							
Ap	0-25	56	2.2	5.4	26^{2}	0.050	0.21	95	310
$\dot{B_{gw2}}$	40-60	66	0.8	4.9	-	0.020	0.13	96	450
Bro, Gl	eyic Camb	oisol			_				
Ap	0-25	62	3.4	5.6	31 ²	-	0.41	-	330
$\dot{BC_g}$	55-100	59	0.9	4.6	-	-	0.24	-	430
Kaľknä	s, Eutric R	legosol							
Ap	0-20	20	2.5	6.2	20^{2}	-	0.13	-	500
$\mathbf{B}_{\mathbf{gw}}$	33-60	19	0.4	6.3	-	-	0.08	-	850
Öjebyn	, Thionic (Gleysol							
Hp	0-23	21	13.1	5.0	41^{2}	0.063	0.19	34	270
B'_{gjw2}	47-58	26	2.9	3.3	-	0.005	0.01	24	117
Võjakk	ala, Dystri	c Regos	ol						
Ap	0-28	16	3.0	5.0	24^{2}	-	0.09	-	143
BCg	48-69	17	1.4	4.7	-	-	0.07	-	180

¹Clay<2µm; ²Soil from unlimed plots in the liming experiments; ³Haak & Simán, 1992

Effects of liming on soil properties and crop Cd concentration (*Paper II*)

The pH was significantly increased by liming at all eight sites. In six experiments the pH range was 5.3/5.5-6.6/7.0, while at two sites it had higher initial pH level and thus a more narrow range 6.2-7.0 and 5.7-6.3, respectively (Table 4; Fig. 6a,b; Fig. 7a,b). Exchangeable Cd (1M NH₄NO₃) values in surface soil samples from unlimed plots and plots with the highest liming rate were 9-48 µg kg⁻¹ and 1-9 µg kg⁻¹, respectively. The exchangeable Cd and Zn were significantly decreased by liming at five and three sites, respectively. There was a strong significant and positive correlation between pH and exchangeable Cd at all five sites, R²=67-90%. A multiple regression was carried out in which the exchangeable Cd was related to pH and clay content of the surface soil of all sites together (eq. 6). Clay content and pH explained 81% of the variation. Clay content and Cd extracted by 2M HNO₃ were positively and significantly correlated, R²=67%.

exchangeable Cd = 134 - 22*pH + 0.4*clay content $R^2 = 0.81$ eq. 6

Table 4. Electrical conductivity (EC), pH, exchangeable Cd, Zn and Ca in surface soil samples from liming experiments. The treatments are: unlimed; and limed to: 55% base saturation (BS); 70% BS; and 100% BS

Site	pH^1	EC^1		Exchangeable ^{1,2}	
	(H ₂ O,	(H ₂ O,	Cd	Zn	Ca
	1:2.5)	1:2.5)	$(mg kg^{-1})$	$(mg kg^{-1})$	$(g kg^{-1})$
Kövlinge	5.8-6.4*	-	0.009-0.004*	-	0.7-1.0*
Nättraby	5.7-6.3*	187-247*	0.019-0.006*	0.55-0.05*	1.8-2.2*
Eckerud	6.2-7.0*	156-159	0.012-0.001*	$0.20 - < 0.05^3$	1.8-3.1*
Östuna	5.5-6.6*	184-230	0.048-0.009*	0.95-0.05*	2.0-3.2*
Bro	5.5-6.7*	231-302*	-	-	-
Kalknäs	5.7-7.0*	175-281*	-	-	-
Öjebyn	5.3-6.8*	524-705*	0.031-0.003*	$2.10 - < 0.05^{3} *$	2.4-5.2*
Vojakkala	5.5-6.9*	127-170*	-	-	-

¹First numbers are mean values for samples from unlimed plots and second numbers are from plots with highest liming rate; ²Exchangeable cations extracted with 0.25M BaCl₂ in soils from Kövlinge; other soils extracted with 1M NH₄NO₃; ³Below detection limit of 0.05 mg Zn kg⁻¹; *Significant difference between liming rates or different pH ($p \le 0.05$)

The Cd concentration of potato tubers varied widely between the experimental sites and average Cd concentration in potatoes from the different liming experiments was in the range 29-360 μ g kg⁻¹ DW (Table 5; Fig. 6a,b). The Cd concentrations in potatoes were significantly different between sites and in most cases larger than the effect of liming. At Nättraby, the Cd concentration was considerably higher than at the other sites. The Cd concentration in potatoes was both positively (two experiments) and negatively (two experiments) significantly related to surface soil pH in four of the five experiments (Fig. 6a,b). In the fifth experiment was there a non-significant increase. In four of the experiments where samples were collected in two consecutive years, the response of tuber Cd to liming was similar in both years, although the Cd concentrations differed significantly between years at two sites (Nättraby and Kalknäs) (Table 5). This observation suggests that the pattern of crop response to liming is mostly influenced by site and less by annual variations.

Tuber yield significantly decreased at the Vojakkala site (Table 5) and there were visible Mn deficiency symptoms on the leaves in the limed plots. Liming also significantly reduced the Mn concentration and the total Mn uptake. The Mn deficiency was probably induced by the low total Mn concentration in the plough layer (Table 3) and the increased pH in the surface soil.



Fig. 6. Relation between surface soil pH and cadmium concentrations in potato tubers from four liming experiments during one or two years. Only significant results are shown. *(a)* Vojakkala (-93 R²=0.47), Öjebyn (-95 R²=0.51) and Kalknäs (-93 R²=0.30) (-94 R²=0.26) *(b)* Nättraby (-95 R²=0.35) (-97 R²=0.31).

At four sites, spring wheat cv. Dragon was grown and the average Cd concentrations of grain and straw were significantly different between sites, with site averages of 36-101 and 87-227 μ g kg⁻¹ DW, respectively (Table 5; Fig. 7a, b). The Cd concentration in grains from the study sites differed significantly with the concentration order Östuna > Bro > Eckerud, Kövlinge and in straw in the order Östuna, Bro > Eckerud, Kövlinge. The Cd concentration in cereal grains was consistently lower at Eckerud, Kövlinge and Nättraby and consistently higher at Östuna (Table 5) than the Swedish average concentration, which has been reported to be 69 μ g kg⁻¹ DW in spring wheat, 51 μ g kg⁻¹ DW in winter wheat, 36 μ g kg⁻¹ DW in oats and 19 μ g kg⁻¹ DW in barley grain (Eriksson, 1990; Öborn *et al.*, 1995; Eriksson *et al.*, 2000).

Statistical analyses of the liming effect for each site and year separately (seven experiments in total), showed that in three of the experiments, the Cd concentration of grain was negatively correlated with the pH in surface soil or the lime treatment and in three of the experiments the correlation was positively (Fig. 7a). Only in one experiment there was no response of the liming. The Cd concentration in straw was negatively and significantly correlated with pH or lime treatment in most of the experiments (six out of eight) (Fig. 7b). In the other two experiment increased the Cd concentration in straw with liming, but only one experiment had a significant result.

Table 5.	Yield	and C	d conc	centrations	in	crops fro	om l	iming	experiments
						1 0		0	

Site	Year	Crop	Cultivar	Yie	Yield ^{1, 2}		Cd in crop ^{1, 2,3}		
				ton FW ha ⁻¹		µg kg	$^{-1}$ DW		
				tuber or	straw	tuber or	straw		
				grain		grain			
Kövlinge	96	Potatoes	King	48-51	-	33 - 42 ^a	-		
			Edward						
Nättraby	95	"	Bintje	18-16	-	380-311 ^b *	-		
"	97	دد	Bintje	17-19	-	300-240*	-		
Kalknäs	93	دد	Hertha	24-24	-	$30 - 42^{a}$	-		
"	94	دد	Hertha	9-11	-	42 - 50*	-		
Öjebyn	94	"	Jätte-	24-21	-	67 - 58 ⁴	-		
			Bintje						
دد	95	"	Jätte-	22-17*	-	86 - 66 ^c *	-		
			Bintje						
Vojakkal	93	دد	Hertha	21-14*	-	28 - 47 ^a *	-		
a									
دد	94	"	Hertha	13 - 9*	-	30 - 41	-		
Kövlinge	98	S. wheat	Dragon	-	-	34 - 37 ^a *	114-130 ^a		
Nättraby	96	W. wheat	Konsul	7.8-6.4	3.1-3.3	33 - 34	143-121*		
Eckerud	94	S. wheat	Dragon	2.6-2.8	1.7-1.9	41 - 51 ^a *	81-102 ^a *		
دد	95	W. wheat	Kosack	5.9-6.3	-	33 - 50 ⁴	-		
"	96	"	Kosack	5.2-5.4	3.3-3.1	20 - 26*	58 - 52*		
Östuna	94	S. wheat	Dragon	2.2-2.5	1.3-1.5	108 - 83 ^b *	232-165 ^b *		
"	96	Oats	Sang	4.3-4.3	2.7-3.1	103 - 69*	253-161*		
"	97	Barley	Scarlett	3.2-4.4*	1.1-1.5*	37 - 26*	163 - 61*		
Bro	95	S. wheat	Dragon	1.9-2.1	-	88 - 46 ^{c4}	250-131 ^b *		

¹Different letters = sig. difference between sites with the same species (potatoes) or cultivar (cv. Dragon) ($p \le 0.05$) ²First numbers are mean values for samples from unlimed plots and second numbers are

²First numbers are mean values for samples from unlimed plots and second numbers are from plots with highest liming rate

³*= sig. difference between different pH or liming rates ($p \le 0.05$)

⁴Replicates were merged and no statistical analysis concerning differences in pH effects was possible

The crop Cd response to liming and pH showed the same trend in each season at one site (Eckerud) where the same cultivars of winter wheat were grown for more than one year. However, the crop Cd levels differed significantly between the two years. The Cd concentration in winter wheat grains at Eckerud was 37 μ g kg⁻¹ DW in the first year and 22 μ g kg⁻¹ DW in the second year.

Effects of pH and Ca²⁺ on Cd solubility (Paper III)

The pH in the saturation extracts was significantly increased by liming at all four sites included in this study (Table 6). The largest pH difference in the saturation extracts was between unlimed and limed plots from Östuna while at Eckerud and Kövlinge the pH was overall rather high >6.0. Unfortunately, the pH values in the saturation extracts are slightly unreliable, since the degassing of CO_2 from the saturation extracts was not controlled. Degassing of CO_2 can lead to a higher pH than the actual pH in the soil solution during field conditions (Lorenz *et al.*, 1997).

The saturation extracts from the Nättraby soil showed the highest Cd^{2+} and Cd_{tot} concentrations, while the extracts from the Eckerud soil showed the lowest concentrations (Table 6). The dissolved total Cd concentration in the saturation

extracts from Östuna and Nättraby was significantly decreased by an increase in pH (liming) (Table 6; Fig. 8). The Cd²⁺ concentration was decreased by liming at all sites except Eckerud. The higher Cd solubility at Nättraby was probably caused by the combination of a relatively low pH in the saturation extracts, content of organic matter and clay content, since the HNO₃ and NH₄NO₃-extractable Cd were in same range as in the other soils (Tables 3, 4 and 6). The Cd concentrations at Eckerud were very low in all plots and this is probably due to the high pH. The additions of Ca²⁺ did not cause any detectable increase in Cd solubility. However, at Eckerud was there a small but non-significant increase in the Cd²⁺ concentration and in total dissolved Cd. The non-significant result could be due to the low concentrations of Cd having lead to difficulties in the analysis, but there was probably no competition between Cd and Ca for binding sites since there are large amounts of these at this high pH (6.8-7.8). The Cd^{2+} and Cd_{tot} concentrations in this study were in the lower end or much lower than Cd concentrations in other studies (Lorenz et al., 1997; McLaughlin et al., 1997a; Sauvé et al., 2000). However, the soils used in those studies were moderately to heavily metalcontaminated or saline.



Fig. 7. Relation between surface soil pH and cadmium concentrations in cereals from five liming experiments during one or two years. Only significant results are shown. (*a*) grain Kövlinge (-98, S. Wheat R^2 =0.23), Eckerud (-94 S. Wheat), (-96 W. Wheat R^2 =0.41) and Östuna (-94 S. Wheat R^2 =0.38) (-96 Oats R^2 =0.51) (-97 Barley R^2 = 0.52) (*b*) straw Nättraby (-96 W. Wheat R^2 =0.68), Eckerud (-94 S. Wheat), (-96 W. Wheat), Bro (-95 S. Wheat R^2 =0.38), Östuna (-94 S. Wheat R^2 =0.56), (-96 Oats R^2 =0.51) and (-97 Barley R^2 =0.40).

Dissolved organic carbon was increased by liming at Eckerud and Östuna, while at the other two sites there was no significant effect of liming. The increase in DOC was probably accounted for a combination of deprotonation of organic acids and an increase in biological activity.

Table 6. Ionic strength (1), pH, DOC and concentrations of Ca^{2+} , Cd^{2+} , Cd_{org} and Cd_{tot} in saturation extracts from four liming experiments. Treatments are unlimed; and limed with calcite to 55% BS; limed to 70% BS; limed to 100% BS

Site/ Treatm.	I mol 1 ⁻¹ *10 ⁻⁶	рН	DOC g l ⁻¹	Ca mol 1 ⁻¹ *10 ⁻³	Cd ²⁺ mol 1 ⁻¹ *10 ⁻⁹	Cd _{org} mol 1 ⁻¹ *10 ⁻⁹	Cd _{tot} mol 1 ⁻¹ *10 ⁻⁹
Kövlinge							
unlimed	7.4 ^a	6.0^{a}	0.108^{a}	0.71^{a}	0.68^{a}	0.85^{a}	1.78^{a}
55% BS	8.4 ^a	6.6 ^b	0.081 ^a	1.04 ^a	0.48^{b}	0.66 ^a	1.30 ^a
70% BS	9.1 ^a	6.7 ^b	0.069 ^a	1.00^{a}	0.57^{ab}	0.74^{a}	1.54 ^a
Nättraby							
unlimed	11.5 ^a	5.6 ^a	0.064 ^a	1.84 ^a	1.72 ^a	0.66^{ab}	2.69 ^a
55% BS	11.0 ^a	5.7 ^{ab}	0.076^{a}	1.62 ^a	1.34 ^{ab}	0.68^{ab}	2.29 ^a
70% BS	9.3ª	5.9 ^b	0.089 ^a	1.47 ^a	1.15 ^{ab}	0.91 ^a	2.30 ^{ab}
100% BS	13.2 ^a	6.9 ^c	0.060^{a}	1.96 ^a	0.35 ^b	0.38 ^b	0.81 ^b
Eckerud							
Unlimed	1.5 ^a	6.8^{a}	0.034 ^a	0.26 ^a	0.19 ^a	0.31 ^a	0.51 ^a
55% BS	2.4^{ab}	6.8 ^a	0.036 ^a	0.56 ^a	0.20^{a}	0.30 ^a	0.50^{a}
70% BS	2.3 ^{ab}	7.5 ^b	0.043 ^{ab}	0.66 ^a	0.16 ^a	0.59 ^a	0.76 ^a
100% BS	3.6 ^b	7.8 ^b	0.051 ^b	1.24 ^b	0.23 ^a	0.57^{a}	0.80^{a}
Östuna							
unlimed	1.7^{a}	5.5 ^a	0.030^{a}	0.31 ^a	0.94 ^a	0.57^{a}	1.58 ^a
55% BS	2.0 ^a	6.4 ^a	0.035 ^a	0.38 ^a	0.27^{ab}	0.32 ^b	0.61 ^b
70% BS	3.0 ^a	7.2 ^a	0.045 ^b	0.71 ^a	0.23 ^{ab}	0.48^{ab}	0.73 ^b
100% BS	6.2 ^b	7.8 ^b	0.054 ^c	2.05 ^b	0.18 ^b	0.35 ^{ab}	0.54 ^b
ID: ffamment 1	44 ana - ai	: <u>c</u>	4 1:00-	a 1. at	1: Anna	Annanda at	1

¹Different letters = significant difference between liming treatments at the same site $(p \le 0.05)$



Fig. 8. The Cd^{2+} concentration as a function of pH in saturation extracts from four liming experiments.

In the three batch experiments ("lowNa", "Ca" and "highNa"), the Cd^{2+} solubility was strongly affected by the soil pH. The Cd^{2+} solubility was decreased with increasing pH in all three experiments. (Fig. 9a-d). The slightly higher Cd^{2+} solubility in Expts. "Ca" and "highNa" at pH<7 as compared to "lowNa" is probably due to the increased ionic strength caused by the higher salt concentration of Ca(NO₃)₂ and NaNO₃. Christensen (1984) also found a higher Cd solubility in soils at pH 6 due to an addition of Ca. The Östuna site had the highest Cd^{2+} solubility and Eckerud had the lowest solubility in all three experiments. Kövlinge and Nättraby had almost the same Cd^{2+} solubility in all experiments.

In Expts. "lowNa" and "highNa", the total Cd solubility increased at pH values higher than 7.0. This was due to a higher dissolution of organic carbon and a subsequent complex binding of Cd to DOC (Fig. 10). The effect was most pronounced in Expt. "lowNa" and not at all or to a very small degree in Expt. "Ca". The addition of Na⁺ enhances the dissolution of organic matter, but not the addition of Ca²⁺. The Ca²⁺ is bound to the negatively charged organic molecules and thus causes the organic matter to flocculate (Andersson *et al.*, 2000).



Fig. 9. The Cd^{2+} as a function of pH in three batch experiments and saturation extracts in four soils. *(a)* Kövlinge *(b)* Nättraby *(c)* Eckerud *(d)* Östuna.

The rather small difference between Cd solubility in Expts. "lowNa" and "highNa" in the Kövlinge and Nättraby soils suggests that surface complexation reactions probably played the major roll in controlling the Cd solubility even at pH<6 (Fig. 9a,b). The specific bonding to organic matter or oxides is probably the most important factor when considering Cd sorption in those soils. If electrostatic interactions played the most important role in controlling Cd solubility, increasing

the NaNO₃ concentration by a factor of ten would be expected to increase the Cd solubility to a larger degree. In the Eckerud and Östuna soils, which have high amounts of clay, the electrostatic bonding to the clay and organic particles probably plays the greatest role.



Fig. 10. The Cd^{2+} solubility as a function of pH in Expt. "lowNa" and in four soils: Eckerud, Östuna, Nättraby and Kövlinge.

Cd in crops from limed fields correlated to soil parameters

(Paper IV)

Cadmium concentrations in potato tubers, cereal grain and straw from Kövlinge, Nättraby, Eckerud, Östuna and Öjebyn were included in this study. There were positive and significant correlations between exchangeable Cd in surface soil and Cd concentrations in crops at three of the sites (Nättraby -95, Östuna -94 and Öjebyn -95) and at one site the correlation was negative (Eckerud, grain and straw). At the Kövlinge site (potato tubers -96) the correlation was non-significant. Exchangeable Cd explained 24 to 82% of the variation in crop Cd concentrations (Fig. 11a,b). The negative correlation was observed at Eckerud, where the grain and straw Cd concentration was increased by liming (Table 5). This increase could have been due to several factors, *e.g.* increased Cd solubility/availability due to addition of Ca²⁺ or a micronutrient deficiency induced by liming.

I found a significant correlation between Cd concentrations in crops (cereal straw and potato tuber) and pH in saturation extracts in three experiments, Kövlinge -96 (potato), Nättraby -95 (straw) and Eckerud -96 (straw). The correlation at two sites (Nättraby and Eckerud) was negative, but at the third site (Kövlinge) the correlation was positive and an increase in straw Cd concentration was observed (Table 5). There was a positive significant correlation between Cd concentration in wheat straw and Cd species in the saturation extract, *i.e.* Cd²⁺, CdCl⁻, CdSO₄⁰, Cdorg and Cd_{tot} at Nättraby (R² = 35-53%) (Fig. 12). The non-significant correlation between Cd in saturation extracts and related crops can have several possible explanations, resulting from both technical problems with the method as well as factors/processes in the rhizosphere or within the plants. One technical problem could be related to mimicking the soil solution in the root environment by saturation extracts, especially in heavy clays (Eckerud and Östuna), since the aggregates are crushed when the bulk soil sample is homogenized. There are certainly different soil environments (i.e. pH, ionic strength, redox potential) inside and outside soil aggregates, a fact that is not reflected by the saturation extracts. Hence, the saturation extracts in strongly structured soil may not represent the root bathing solution. Secondly, the Cd concentrations in the saturation extract of Kövlinge and Eckerud were close to the detection limit, which may also explain a lack of correlation with crop Cd. In other studies, where crop Cd concentrations have been significantly correlated to the soil solution Cd concentrations, the soils used have been contaminated by heavy metals or have been rather saline, with resulting higher Cd concentrations in soil solutions than in our study (Lorenz et al., 1994; Hamon et al., 1995; Lorenz et al., 1997; McLaughlin et al., 1997a).



Fig. 11. Correlation between exchangeable Cd and crop Cd concentrations at five sites. Degree of explanation (\mathbb{R}^2). (*a*) Kövlinge -96 (potatoes) not significant, Eckerud -94 (grain) 26% and Eckerud -94 (straw) 40% (*b*) Nättraby -95 (potatoes) 32%, Östuna -94 (grain) 24%, Östuna -94 (straw) 40% and Öjebyn -95 (potatoes) 82%.

A third problem could be that the soil solution composition changes during the growing period, which leads to a need to sample and measure the soil solution composition several times during the growing season in order to reflect the crop Cd concentration. Lorenz *et al.* (1994) found in their pot experiment that applications of excess fertilizer cations affected the pH and Cd concentrations in soil solutions. There was a weak correlation between Cd concentrations in crops and soil solutions, but a strong correlation between mass flow of Cd and Cd concentration in plants. This suggests that there is a need to collect soil solutions on several occasions during a growing period when management practices and plant factors affect the soil solution composition. McLaughlin *et al.* (1997) found in their study a significant correlation between the activities of $CdCl_n^{n-1}$ in soil solutions and Cd concentrations in potato tubers. The soil solutions were made from bulked soil samples, which were only collected once during the growing season. The Cd and Cl concentrations in soil solutions had a wide range and the median concentrations were considerably higher (on average 30 and 40 times higher) than those found in

this study. The rather high salinity in those soils could have diminished any effect of management practices and plant factors in the rhizosphere.



Fig. 12. Correlation between Cd species in saturation extracts and Cd concentration in straw from Nättraby. The variation in crop Cd at Nättraby was explained by Cd^{2+} to 46%, Cd_{org} to 35% and Cd_{tot} to 53%.

Concluding discussion

In the studies presented in this thesis, it was shown that soil pH mainly controlled the solubility of surface soil Cd and that liming decreased the exchangeable Cd and increased the pH. It was also found that liming decreased the Cd^{2+} concentration in saturation extracts in two out of four experiments. It was concluded in the batch experiments that Ca^{2+} competes with Cd for binding sites only at low pH values. Thus, liming according to agricultural practice which leads to an increase in pH should not lead to an increased Cd solubility due to Ca competition.

I found in my study that liming increased, decreased or had no effect on the crop Cd concentration and that there was a clear correlation between pattern of response to liming and crop Cd levels. At sites with low crop Cd concentrations (below Swedish average levels), liming increased or had no effect on the crop Cd concentrations, while at sites with high crop Cd levels, liming decreased the crop Cd. Low crop Cd concentrations indicate a low availability of Cd in the soil and vice versa at sites with high crop Cd concentrations. At sites with low Cd availability, one might also expect a low availability of several other trace metals since their solubility is regulated by similar factors as for Cd, *i.e.* pH being of major importance. In addition, total trace metal contents are correlated in Swedish arable soils, reflecting the geochemistry of the parent material, which means that soils high in Cd are usually high in other trace elements such as Cu and Zn and vice versa (Eriksson et al., 2000). In most of the Swedish long-term liming experiments, liming increased the yield but at some locations significant negative yield responses or no yield response have been observed (Simán, 1989; Haak & Simán, 1992). In order to explain the inconsistent liming effects on yield response, pot experiments with barley (Hordeum vulgare L.) were performed. Liming decreased Mn uptake on all soils and Zn uptake on all except one soil (Hylander, 1995). It was shown in Paper III that the Cd solubility (batch experiments and saturation extracts) at low pH was lower at sites with low crop Cd levels (Eckerud and Kövlinge) than at sites with high crop Cd levels (Östuna and Nättraby). The differences in Cd solubility could be due to several soil factors, *e.g.* content of clay, organic matter, trace metals and Fe or Mn-oxides.

At sites with already low Cd and trace metal availability, one might expect that a further decrease in availability due to liming would lead to micronutrient deficiency, especially since the solubility/availability of other trace metals has been shown to be more closely related to pH than that of Cd (Öborn et al., 1995; Eriksson et al., 2000; Grawé et al., 2001). Micronutrient deficiency can lead to a decrease in biomass production or an induced plant release of root exudates (Treeby et al., 1989). Exudates have been shown to increase both micronutrient and Cd availability (Merckx et al., 1986; Mench & Martin, 1991; Nigam et al., 2001) and the effects of liming are thereby diminished. Reductions in plant biomass and visible micronutrient deficiency symptoms are rather easy to detect, but it is more difficult to detect release of exudates and any resultant increase in trace metal availability. In my study (Paper II), I found both visible Mn deficiency symptoms and reductions in biomass at one experimental site (Vojakkala). The Mn deficiency at this site was probably due to a low total concentration of Mn in the soil and a subsequent low solubility/availability, which was further decreased by liming. At Eckerud, liming increased the concentration and total amount of Cd in winter wheat grain, but the concentration and total amount of Cd in winter wheat straw was decreased. This led to the total Cd accumulation (grain and straw) in winter wheat being unaffected by liming. There could have been a reallocation of Cd within the plant due to liming and perhaps a subsequent micronutrient deficiency in the limed plots. In their report from these liming experiments, Haak & Simán (1992) discuss Cu deficiency in oats in the Eckerud experiment. I could not detect any other deficiency symptoms or biomass reductions at the other sites with low crop Cd concentrations and an increased crop Cd due to liming. However, this does not exclude the possibility that the crops in the limed plots had increased the trace metal solubility/availability in the root environment by releasing exudates and thereby neutralizing the effect of liming.

The relationship between soil solution parameters and crop Cd at low Cd concentrations is poor. However, other authors have shown that soil solution Cd can be a good predictor of crop Cd at high Cd concentrations (contaminated soils or soils with high amounts of ligands) (Lorenz et al., 1997; McLaughlin et al., 1997). The non-significant correlation between Cd in saturation extracts and related crops can have several possible explanations deriving from both technical problems with the method as well as factors/processes in the rhizosphere or within the plants. The saturation extracts reflect the whole bulk soil solution and the soil solution in the rhizosphere could be different from this, since plants can affect the Cd solubility by changing the pH and DOC and by releasing root exudates (Merckx et al., 1986; Treeby et al., 1989; Mench & Martin, 1991; Hamon et al., 1995; Nigam et al., 2001). This theory is supported by the findings of Lorenz et al. (1997) in a pot experiment, where the Cd concentrations in non-rhizosphere soil solutions were poorly correlated to Cd concentrations in crops, but the Cd concentrations in rhizosphere soil solutions were better correlated to the crop Cd concentrations.

Conclusions

- The Cd²⁺ solubility in the soils investigated was mainly controlled by soil pH. There was no detectable increase in Cd solubility in batch experiments or saturation extracts due to addition of Ca²⁺ or of lime at higher pH levels.
- Liming decreased the Cd concentrations in crops with high Cd levels, but at sites with low Cd levels in crops the Cd concentration increased. At those sites it was not only the crop Cd concentration that was low, but also the concentrations of Cd in soil solution and batch extracts. This indicates a low availability of trace metals in the soil, which can lead to micronutrient deficiency and a resultant decrease in biomass or to a release of root exudates and a resultant increase in metal bioavailability. There were visible Mn-deficiency symptoms and yield decreases in some of the experiments. The conclusion is that it is most probable that plant factors as well as soil factors affect the Cd solubility and bioavailability.
- The correlation between parameters in the saturation extracts and crop Cd was poor due to difficulties in sampling, preparing and measuring soil solution extracts at low Cd levels. Hence, use of soil solution extracts was not a good tool to predict crop Cd concentrations at low Cd concentrations in soil solution, although it might be useful at high soil solution Cd concentrations (polluted soils or soils with high amounts of ligands).
- The recommendation from this thesis is to lime soils that have low soil pH and that are known to give high Cd concentrations in crops. However, the amount of lime added should be a normal standard agricultural rate. Soils with low pH and low crop Cd concentrations should only be given minor or no additions of lime. Larger additions of lime can increase crop Cd concentrations in these soils due to micronutrient deficiency.
- Differences in crop Cd concentrations were larger between sites than the effects of liming within a specific site. It is concluded that managing crop Cd by site selection rather than by liming may be more effective. Crops aimed for human consumption should be grown on suitable fields known to give low crop Cd concentrations.
- Further research is needed to fully understand the effects of liming on crop Cd concentrations. At sites where liming increases the Cd concentration in crops, the effects of root exudates on micronutrient dynamics and on Cd solubility/availability need to be further investigated.

References

- Adams, M.L., McGrath, S.P., Zhao, F.J., Nicholson, F.A. & Sinclair, A.H. 2000. Lead and cadmium as a contaminants in UK wheat and barley. *Proceedings of HGCA Conference* "Crop Management into the Millennium", HGCA, London, 10.1-10.10.
- Alfven, T., Elinder, C.G., Carlsson, M.D., Grubb, A., Hellström, L., Persson, B., Pettersson, C., Spång, G., Schütz, A. & Järup, L. 2000. Low level cadmium exposure and osteoporosis. *Journal of Bone Mineral Research 15*, 1579-1586.
- Alloway, B.J. 1995. *Heavy Metals in Soils*. Blackie Academic & Professionals. New York. 386 pp.
- Alne, J.E. & Gjerstad, K.O. 1998. Bly og kadmium i poteter og grønnsaker. Statens næringsmiddeltillsyn 7. Norwegian Food Control Authority.
- Alriksson, A. 1997. Afforestation of farmland; soil changes and the uptake of heavy metals and nutrients by trees. Dissertation. *Acta Universitatis Agriculturae Sueciae, Silvestria* 57, Uppsala
- Andersen, O., Nielsen, J.B. & Nordberg, G.F. 1992. Factors affecting intestinal uptake of cadmium from the diet. *IARC Science Publication*, 173-187.
- Anderssen, A. 1979. Bly, cadmium, kobber og zink i dansk produceret frugt og grøntsager, 1977-1978. Statens levnedsmiddelinstitut 40.
- Andersson, A. 1975. Relative efficiency of nine different soil extractants. Swedish Journal of Agricultural Research 5, 125-135.
- Andersson, A. 1977. Heavy metals in Swedish soils. On their retention, distribution and amounts. *Swedish Journal of Agricultural Research* 7, 7-20.
- Andersson, A. 1992. Trace Elements in Agricultural Soils Fluxes and Balances. Swedish Environmental Protection Agency, Report 4077.
- Andersson, A. & Pettersson, O. 1981. Cadmium in Swedish winter wheat. Swedish Journal of Agricultural Research 11, 49-55.
- Andersson, A. & Bingefors, S. 1985. Trends and annual variations in Cd concentrations in grain of winter wheat. Acta Agriculturæ Scandinavica 35, 339-344.
- Andersson, A. & Simán, G. 1991. Levels of Cd and some trace elements in soil and crops as influenced by lime and fertilizer level. Acta Agriculturæ Scandinavica 41, 34-11.
- Andersson, S., Nilsson, S.I. & Saetre, P. 2000. Leaching of dissolved organic carbon (DOC) and dissolved nitrogen (DON) in mor humus as affected by temperature and pH. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry 33*, 1181-1191.
- Barregård, L., Svalander, C., Schütz, A., Westberg, G., Sällsten, G., Blohmé, I., Mölne, J., Attman, P.-O. & Haglind, P. 1999. Cadmium, mercury and lead in kidney cortex of the general Swedish population: a study of biopsies from living kidney donors. Environmental Health Perspectives 107, 867-871.
- Becker, W. & Kumpulainen, J. 1991. Contents of essential and toxic elements in Swedish market-basket diets in 1987. British Journal of Nutrition 66, 151-160.
- Berglund, M., Åkesson, A., Nermell, B. & Vaher, M. 1994. Intestinal absorption of dietary cadmium in woman depends on body iron stores and fibre intake. *Environmental Health Perspectives 102*, 1058-1066.
- Boekhold, A.E., Temminghof, E.J.M. & Van der Zee, S.E.A.T.M. 1993. Influence on electrolyte composition and pH on cadmium sorption by an acidic sandy soil. *Journal of Soil Science 44*, 85-96.
- Buchet, J.P., Lauwerys, R., Roels, H., Bernhard, A., Bruaux, P., Clayes, F., Ducoffre, G., De Plaen, P., Staessen, J., Amery, A., Lijnen, P., Thijs, L., Rondia, D., Sartor, F., Saint Remy, A. & Nick, L. 1995. Renal effects of cadmium body burden of the general population. *The Lancet* 336, 699-702.
- Choudhary, M., Bailey, L.D., Grant, C.A. & Leisle, D. 1995. Effect of Zn on the concentration of Cd and Zn in plant tissue of two durum wheat lines. *Canadian Journal of Plant Science* 75, 445-448.
- Christensen, T. 1984. Cadmium soil sorption at low concentrations: I. Effect of time, cadmium load, pH and calcium. *Water, Air and Soil Pollution 21*, 115-125.

- Christensen, T. 1987. Cadmium soil sorption at low concentrations: V. Evidence of competition by other heavy metals. *Water, Air and Soil Pollution* 34, 293-303.
- Christensen, T.H. & Huang, P.M. 1999. Solid phase cadmium and the reactions of aqueous cadmium with soil surfaces. *In: Cadmium in Soils and Plants*. Ed. M.L. McLaughlin & B. R. Singh. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, The Netherlands
- Cieśliński, G., Van Rees, K.C.J., Huang, P.M., Kozak, L.M., Rostad, H.P.W. & Knott, D.R. 1996. Cadmium uptake and bioaccumulation in selected cultivars of durum wheat and flax as affected by soil type. *Plant and Soil 182*, 115-124.
- Cutler, J.M. & Rains, D.W. 1974. Characterization of cadmium uptake by plant tissues. *Plant Physiology 54*, 67-71.
- Edmeades, D.C., Wheeler, D.M. & Clinton, O.E. 1985. The chemical composition and ionic strength of soil solutions from New Zealand top-soils. *Australian Journal of Soil Research 23*, 151-165.
- Eriksson, J. 1990. A field study on factors influencing Cd levels in soils and in grains of oats and winter wheat. *Water, Air and Soil Pollution 53,* 69-81.
- Eriksson, J. 2001. Critical load set to "no further increase in Cd content of agricultural soils" consequences. In: Ad hoc International Expert Group on Effect-based Critical Limits for Heavy Metals, Bratislava, Slovak Republic 11th 13th October 2000, Proceedings. Soil Science and Conservation Research Institute. Bratislava, Slovak Republic, 54-58.
- Eriksson, J., Andersson, A. & Wenblad, A. 1990. Cd, Ni and Zn contents of oat grains as related to soil factors and precipitation. *Swedish Journal of Agricultural Research 20*, 81-87.
- Eriksson, J. & Söderström, M. 1996. Cadmium in wheat and agricultural soil in southern Sweden. I. Factors influencing levels in soil and grain. *Acta Agriculturæ Scandinavica Section B, Soil and Plant Science* 46, 240-248.
- Eriksson, J., Öborn. I., Jansson, G. & Andersson, A. 1996. Factors influencing Cd-content in crops. Results from Swedish field investigations. *Swedish Journal of Agricultural Research 26*, 125-133.
- Eriksson, J., Andersson, A. & Andersson, R. 1997. *Current Status of Swedish Arable Soils*. Swedish Environmental Protection Agency, Report 4778, Solna. (In Swedish with English summary).
- Eriksson, J., Stenberg, B, Andersson, A. & Andersson, R. 2000. *The Current Status of Swedish Arable Soils and Cereal Crops*. Swedish Environmental Protection Agency, Report 5062 (In Swedish with English summary).
- Elinder, C.-G. & Järup, L. 1996. Cadmium exposure and health risks: recent findings. *Ambio 25*, 370-373.
- Elsokkary, I.H. & Låg, J. 1978. Distribution of different fractions of Cd, Pb, Zn and Cu in industrially polluted and unpolluted soils in the Odda region, Norway. *Acta Agriculturæ Scandinavica 28*, 262-268.
- EG. 2001. Kommissionens förordning (EG) nr 46672001 av den 8 mars 2001 om fastställande av högsta tillåtna halt av vissa främmande ämnen i livsmedel. *Europeiska gemenskapens officiella tidning nr L 077*, 16/03/2001, s. 0001-0013.
- FAO. 1988. World Resources Report 60, FAO-Rome.
- FAO/WHO. 1993. Joint FAO/WHO Food Standards Programme, Codex Alimentarius Commission, 20th Session, Geneva 28 June-7 July 1993.
- Grant, C.A. & Bailey, L.D. 1997. Effects of phosphorus and zinc fertiliser management on cadmium accumulation in flaxseed. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 73, 307-314.
- Grant, C.A. & Bailey, L.D. 1998. Nitrogen, phosphorus and zinc management effects on grain yield and cadmium concentration in two cultivars of durum wheat. *Canadian Journal of Plant Science* 78, 63-70.
- Grawé, K. P. 1996. Cadmium in our kidneys from where? Vår Föda 6, 10-12. (In Swedish with English summary)
- Grawé, K.P. 2001. EU föreslår gränsvärden. Vår Föda 2, 16-7 (In Swedish).
- Grawé, K.P., Öborn, I. & Gustafsson, K. 2001. Cadmium and Other Trace Metals in Swedish Food Potatoes - Development Project for Environmental Monitoring. Final

Report, Swedish Environmental Protection Agency (contract 222 0006, 222 0010) (In Swedish).

- Haak, E. & Simán, G. 1992. *Field Experiments with Liming of Mineral Soils to Different Base Saturation*. Inst. markvetenskap, Avd. Växtnäringslära, Rapport 188. Sveriges Lantbruksuniversitet, Uppsala. (In Swedish with English Summary)
- Hamon, R.E., Lorenz, S.E., Holm, P.E., Christensen, T.H. & McGrath, S.P. 1995. Changes in trace metal species and other components of the rhizosphere during growth of radish. *Plant, Cell and Environment 18*, 749-756.
- Harrison, H.C. 1986. Carrot response to sludge application and bed type. *Journal American Society Horticultural Sciences 11*, 211-215.
- He, Q.-B. & Singh, B.R. 1995. Cadmium availability to plants as affected by repeated applications of phosphorus fertilizers. *Acta Agriculturæ Scandinavica Section B, Soil and Plant Science* 45, 22-31.
- Hedlund, B (ed.), Eriksson, J, Peterson-Grawé, K & Öborn, I. 1997. *Kadmium tillstånd och trender*. Swedish Environmental Protection Agency, Report 4759 (In Swedish).
- Helmke, P.E. 2000. Chemistry of cadmium in soil solution. In: Cadmium in Soils and Plants. Ed. M.L. McLaughlin & B. R. Singh. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, The Netherlands
- Hylander, L. 1995. *Inconsistent Liming Effects: A Causal Analysis*. Department of Soil Sciences Reports and Dissertations 25, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala.
- IPCS. 1992. International Programme on Chemical Safety. *Environmental Health Criteria* 134 Cadmium. World Health Organization, Geneva, Schwitzerland, 280 pp.
- Jansson, G. & Öborn, I. 2000. Cadmium content of Swedish carrots and the influence of soil factors. Acta Agriculturæ Scandinavica Sect. B, Soil and Plant Science 50, 49-56.
- Jansson, G. & Öborn, I. 2002. Effects of liming on cadmium concentrations of potato tubers, cereal grains and straw. *Journal of Environmental Quality* (submitted).
- Johnsson, L., Öborn, I., Jansson, G. & Berggren, D. 2002. Evidence for spring wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) uptake of cadmium from subsurface soils. *Journal of Environmental Quality* (submitted).
- Jones, K.C. & Johnston, A.E. 1989. Cadmium in cereal grain and herbage from long-term experimental plot at Rothamsted. *Environmental Pollution* 57, 199-216.
- Jorhem, L. & Sundström, B. 1993. Levels of lead, cadmium, zinc, copper, nickel, chromium, manganese, and cobolt in foods on the Swedish market, 1983-1990. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis 6*, 223-241.
- Jorhem, L., Becker, W. & Slorach, S. 1998. Intake of 17 elements by Swedish women, determined by 24-hours duplicate portion study. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis 11*, 32-46.
- Järup, L., Berglund, M., Elinder, C.-G., Nordberg, G. & Vather, M. 1998. Health effects of cadmium exposure – a review of the literature and risk estimate. *Scandinavian Journal of Work Environmental Health 24* 1-52.
- Järup, L., Hellstrom, L., Alfven, T., Carlsson, M.D., Grubb, A., Persson, B., Pettersson, C., Spang, G., Schutz, A. & Elinder, C.G. 2000. Low level exposure to cadmium and early kidney damage: the OSCAR study. *Occupational Environmental Medicine* 57, 668-72.
- Juo, A.S.R. & Kamprath, E.J. 1979. Copper chloride as an extractant for estimating the potentially reactive aluminium pool in acid soils. *Soil Science Society of America Journal* 43, 35-38.
- Kabata-Pendias, G., Terelak, H. & Pietruch, C. 2001. Impact of soil factors on Zn and Cd contents in potato tubers. *Proceedings of 6th International Conference on the Biogeochemistry of Trace Elements, Guelph, Canada.*
- Lorenz, S.E., Hamon, R.E., McGrath, S.P., Holm, P.E., & Christensen, T.H. 1995. Applications of fertilizer cations affect cadmium in soil solutions and uptake by plants. *European Journal of Soil Science* 45, 159-165.
- Lorenz, S.E., Hamon, R.E., Holm, P.E., Domingues, H.C., Sequeria, E.M., Christensen, T.H. & McGrath, S.P. 1997. Cadmium and zinc in plants and soil solutions from contaminated soils. *Plant and Soil 189*, 21-31.

- Maier, N.A., McLaughlin, M.J., Heap, M., Butt, M., Smart, M.K. & Williams, C.M.J. 1997. Effect of current-season application of calcitic lime on soil pH, yield and cadmium concentration in potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) tubers. *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems* 47, 29-40.
- McBride, M.B. 1994. *Environmental Chemistry of Soils*. Oxford University Press, Oxford, UK, 406 pp.
- McLaren, R.G. & Crawford, D.V. 1973. Studies on soil copper. I. The fraction of copper in soil. *Soil Science 23*, 172-181.
- McLaughlin, M.J., Williams, C.M.J., McKay, A., Kirkham, R., Gunton, E., Jackson, K.J., Thompsom, R., Dowling, B., Partington, D., Smart, M.K. & Tiller, K.G. 1994. Effect of cultivar on uptake of cadmium by potato tubers. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research* 45, 1483-1495.
- McLaughlin, M.J., Tiller, K.G., & Smart, M.K. 1997a. Speciation of cadmium in soil solutions of saline/sodic soils and relationships with cadmium concentrations in potato tubers (*Solanum tuberosum* L). *Australian Journal of Soil Research* 35, 1-16.
- McLaughlin, M.J., Maier, N.A., Rayment, G.E., Sparrow, L.A., Berg, G., McKay, A., Milham, P., Merry, R.H. & Smart, M.K. 1997b. Cadmium in Australian Potato Tubers and Soils. *Journal of Environmental Quality 26*, 1644-1649.
- McLaughlin, M.J., Andrew, S.J., Smart, M.K., & Smolders, E. 1998a. Effects of sulfate on cadmium uptake by Swiss chard: I. Effects of complexation and calcium competition in nutrient solutions. *Plant and Soil 202*, 211-216.
- McLaughlin, M.J., Lambrechts, R.M., Smolders, E. & Smart, M.K. 1998b. Effects of sulfate on cadmium uptake by Swiss chard: II. Effects due to sulfate addition to soil. *Plant and Soil 202*, 217-222.
- Mench, M. & Martin, E. 1991. Mobilization of cadmium and other metals from two soils by root exudates of Zea mays L., Nicotiana tabacum L. and Nicotiana rustica L. Plant and Soil 132, 187-196.
- Merckx, R., van Ginkel, J.H. & Cremers, A. 1986. Plant induced changes in the rhizosphere of maize and wheat. II. Complexation of cobolt, zinc and manganese in the rhizosphere of maize and wheat. *Plant and Soil 96*, 95-107.
- Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food. 1997. 1994 total diet study. Metals and other elements. *Food Surveillance Information Sheet No. 131*. United Kingdom.
- Moolenaar, S.W. 1999. Heavy metal balances, part II. Management of cadmium, copper, lead and zinc in European agro-ecosystems. *Journal of Industrial Ecology 3*, 41-53.
- Nigam, R., Srivastava, S., Prakash, S. & Srivastava, M.M. 2001. Cadmium mobilisation and plant availability the impact of organic acids commonly exuded from roots. *Plant and Soil 230*, 107-113.
- Öborn, I., Jansson, G. & Johnsson, L. 1995. A field study on the influence of soil pH on trace element levels in spring wheat (*Triticum aestivum*), potatoes (*Solanum tuberosum*) and carrots (*Daucus carota*). Water, Air and Soil Pollution 85, 835-840.
- Oliver, D.P., Hannam, R., Tiller, K.G., Wilhelm, N.S., Merry, R.H. & Cozens, G.D. 1994. Heavy metals in the environment: The effect of zinc fertilization on cadmium concentration in wheat grain. *Journal of Environmental Quality 23*, 705-711.
- Oliver, D.P., Tiller, K.G., Conyers, M.K., Slattery, W.J., Alston, A.M. & Merry, R.H. 1996. Effectiveness of liming to minimize uptake of cadmium by wheat and barley grain grown in the field. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research 47*, 1181-1193.
- Pettersson, O. 1977. Differences in cadmium uptake between plant species and cultivars. *Swedish Journal of Agricultural Research 7*, 21-24.
- Ross, D. & Bartlett, R. 1990. Effects of extraction methods and sampler storage on properties of soil solution obtained from forest spodosols. *Journal of Environmental Quality 19*, 108-113.
- Sauvé, S., Norvell, W.A., McBride, M. & Hendershot, W. 2000. Speciation and complexation of cadmium in extracted soil solutions. *Environmental Science & Technology 2*, 291-296.
- SCB. 1988. Trädgårdsräkningen. J 10 SM 8802. Statistiska Centralbyrån.
- SCB. 1991. Trädgårdsinventeringen. J 10 SM 9102. Statistiska Centralbyrån.

- Simán, G. 1989. Effect of lime on soil and crop in Swedish field experiments. Agrokémia és talajtan 38, 765-774.
- Smolders, E. & McLaughlin, M.J. 1996a. Effect of Cl on Cd uptake by Swiss chard in nutrient solution. *Plant and Soil 179*, 57-64.
- Smolders, E. & McLaughlin, M.J. 1996b. Chloride increases cadmium uptake in Swiss chard in a resin-buffered nutrient solution. *Soil Science Society of American Journal 60*, 1443-1447.
- Söderström, M. & Eriksson, J. 1996. Cadmium in wheat and agricultural soil in southern Sweden. II. Geographical distribution and its relation to substratum. *Acta Agriculturæ Scandinavica* 46, 249-257.
- Sparrow, L.A. & Salardin, A.A. 1997. Effects of lime and phosphorus fertilizer on cadmium uptake and yield of potatoes and carrots. *Journal of Plant Nutrition 20*, 1333-1349.
- Sparrow, L.A., Salardin, A.A. & Bishop. A.C. 1993. Field studies of cadmium in potatoes (Solanum tuberosum L.) I. Effects of lime and phosphorous on c.v. Russet Burbank. Australian Journal of Agricultural Research 44, 845-853.
- Swedish Standard 028311. 1997. Markundersökningar Bestämning av spårmetaller i jord genom extraktion med salpetersyra. *Swedish Standards Institution, SS 028311* (In Swedish).
- SYSTAT. 1992. SYSTAT for Windows: Statistics, Version 5. Evanston, IL:Systat, Inc. 750 pp.
- SYSTAT. 1998. SYSTAT for Windows: Statistics, Version 8.0. Evanston, IL:Systat, Inc. 1086 pp.
- Temminghof, E.J.M., Van der Zee, S.E.A.T.M., & de Haan, F.A.M. 1995. Speciation and calcium competition effects on cadmium sorption by sandy soil at various pHs. *European Journal of Soil Science 46*, 649-655.
- Terelak, H., Kabata-Pendias, G. & Pietruch, C. 2001. Regional variation in trace element contents in cereals in Poland. *Proc. 6th International Conference on the Biogeochemistry of Trace Elements, Guelph, Canada.*
- Tiller, K.G., Nayyar, V.K. & Clayton, P.M. 1979. Specific and non-specific sorption of cadmium by soil clays as influenced by zinc and calcium. *Australian Journal of Soil Research 17*, 17-35.
- Tiller, K.G., Gerth, V. & Brummer, G. 1984. The relative affinities of Cd, Ni and Zn for different clay fractions and goethite. *Geoderma 34*, 17-35.
- Tipping. E. 1994. WHAM a chemical equilibrium model and computer code for waters, sediments and soils. *Computers & Geosciences 6*, 973-1023.
- Treeby, M., Marschner, H. & Römheld, V. 1989. Mobilization of iron and other micronutrient cations from calcareous soil by plant-borne, microbial, and synthetic metal chelators. *Plant and Soil 114*, 217-226.
- Tyler, G. & Olsson, T. 2001. Plant uptake of major and minor mineral elements as influenced by soil acidity and liming. *Plant and Soil 230*,307-321.
- van Reeuwijk, L.P. (ed.). 1993. *Procedures for Soil Analysis*. ISRIC, Technical Paper no. 9 (4th edition).
- Vather, M. Berglund, M., Nermell, B. & Åkesson, A. 1996. Bioavailability of cadmium from shellfish and mixed diet in women. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology 136*, 332-341.
- Welch, R.M. & Norvell, W.A. 1999. Mechanisms of cadmium uptake, translocation and deposition in plants. In: *Cadmium in Soils and Plants*. Ed. M.L. McLaughlin & B. R. Singh. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, The Netherlands.
- Wenzel, W.W., Blum, W.E.H., Brandstetter, A., Jockwer, F., Köchl, A., Oberforster, M., Oberländer, H.E., Riedler, C., Roth, K. & Vladeva, I. 1996. Effects of soil properties and cultivar on cadmium accumulation in wheat grain. *Zeitschrift für Pflanzenernährung und Bodenkunde 159*, 609-614.
- WHO. 2001. Fifty-fifth Report of the Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives. *WHO Technical Report Series 901, 61-69, 97-98*. World Health Organisation, Geneva.

- Wiersma, D., Van Goor, B.J. & Van Der Veen, N.G. 1986. Cadmium, lead, mercury and arsenic concentrations in crops and corresponding soils in the Netherlands. *Journal of Agricultural Food Chemistry* 34, 1067-1074.
- Williams, C.H. & David, D.J. 1976. The accumulation in soils of cadmium residues from phosphate fertilizers and their effect on the cadmium content of plants. *Soil Science 121*, 86-93.
- Wolnik, K., Fricke, F., Capar, S., Meyer, M., Satzger, D., Bonnin, E. & Gaston, C. 1985. Elements in major raw agricultural crops in the United States. 3. Cadmium, lead and eleven other elements in carrots, field corn, onions, rice, spinach and tomatoes. *Journal* of Agricultural Food Chemistry 33, 807-811.
- Wolt, J.D. 1994. Soil Solution Chemistry: Applications to Environmental Science and Agriculture. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, 345 pp.
- Zachara, J.M., Smith, S.C., Resch, C.T. & Cowan, C.E. 1992. Cadmium sorption on silicates and oxides. *Soil Science Society of American Journal 56*, 1074-1084.
- Zasoski, R.J. & Burau, R.G. 1988. Sorption and sorptive interaction of cadmium and zinc on hydrous manganese oxides. *Soil Science Society of American Journal* 52, 81-87.

Acknowledgements

Financial support for the projects was provided by the Swedish Council for Forest and Agricultural Research (SJFR), the Swedish Environmental Protection Agency (SNV), the Foundation of Oscar and Lilli Lamm's Memory and the Foundation of Swedish Plant Nutrition Research.

Ett stort tack till min huvudhandledare, Ingrid Öborn. Din aldrig sinande energi och smittsamma entusiasm har varit ovärderlig! Tack även för det trevliga ressällskapet på våra intensiva konferensresor. Tack till min biträdande handledare, Dan Berggren, du har varit en resurs för de markemiska klurigheter i min avhandling. Thanks to Erik Smolders my co-supervisor at Laboratory of Soil Fertility and Biology, K.U. Leuven, Belgium. I certainly appreciate your thorough reading of my papers and thesis and your broad knowledge about cadmium. Jag vill även tacka Arne Andersson, som var min huvudhandledare i inledningen av mitt doktorsarbete.

Tack till redaktionskommittén på institutionen för markvetenskap, Lisbet Lewan, Anna Mårtensson och Ingvar Nilsson, för era kommentarer angående min avhandling. Jag vill även tacka Jan Eriksson för att du gav dig tid att läsa mina manuskript. Tack till Mary McAfee för bra och oerhört snabb språkgranskning av mina alster. Hans Johansson har varit en stor hjälp för mig som icke ritkunnig, tack för de fina teckningarna. Lab-personalen på avdelningen för markkemi, Kenth Andersson, Lise Gustafsson, Gunilla Hallberg och Gunilla Lundberg, är verkligen värda ett stort tack. Utan era utmärkta analyser hade detta arbete inte kunnat utföras. Ni har även haft tålamod med glömska och ibland slarviga doktorander och alltid beredvilligt svarat på alla frågor.

Stort tack till Magnus, min "room mate" i hela nio år!! Jag har verkligen uppskattat ditt sällskap under alla dessa år. Du har varit ett levande uppslagsverk och alltid beredd att fundera på diverse udda klurigheter. Tack för den utmärkta häftapparaten! Den har varit ovärderlig under avhandlingsskrivandet. Stort tack till alla före detta samt nuvarande doktorander på institutionen för markvetenskap! Ni har varit till stor hjälp både i medgång och motgång.

Tack till alla mina riviga PUMA II-väninnor! Ni har varit ett stort stöd i doktorerandet, karriärsplanerandet och den "feministiska kampen". Äntligen har jag gjort mig förtjänt av mitt rivjärn!

Tack till alla mina stall-vänner ni har varit en underbart ovetande "oas", mycket avlägsen från all markkemi! Och NEJ! Jag doktorerar INTE på morötter!

Och sist, men definitivt inte minst; Tack Bosse! Din ekonomisk och hushålleliga assistans samt massage av trött "datornacke" har varit ovärderlig under den sista intensiva tiden av avhandlingsskrivandet.